
Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 1 
 

 
The Claremont City Council held a meeting on Wednesday, January 9, 2013, in the Council 
Chambers of City Hall. 
 
The meeting was called to order by Mayor Neilsen at 6:30 p.m. 
 
Members of the Council present were: 
 
At-Large Councilor Keith Raymond 
Ward I Councilor Victor Bergeron 
Ward III Councilor Nicholas Koloski 
Assistant Mayor Andrew Austin 
Mayor James Neilsen, IV 
At-Large Councilor Christopher Irish 
Ward II Councilor Roger Formidoni 
At-Large Councilor Kyle Messier 
At-Large Councilor Thomas Burnham 
 
Also present were:   
 
Guy Santagate, City Manager 
Jane Taylor, City Solicitor 
 
MAYOR’S NOTES 
 
 Stevens High School Student Council Update 
 
None 
 
 CALEA Proclamation 
 
Mayor Neilsen read a letter of congratulations from the Council to the Claremont Police 
Department for its CALEA (Commission on Accreditation for Law Enforcement Agencies) 
award. 
 
REPORT OF THE SECRETARY 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Bergeron and seconded by Mr. Raymond to accept the minutes 
of the December 5, 2012, City Council meeting.   
 
Mr. Austin abstained as he was not at that meeting.   
 
Voice vote:  motion carried 7-0 with 1 abstain (Mr. Austin). 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 2 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Raymond and seconded by Mr. Austin to accept the minutes of 
the December 12, 2012, City Council meeting.  
 
Voice vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 
APPOINTMENT TO BOARDS AND COMMITTEES 
 
Mayor Neilsen noted that he is in the process of replacing Mr. Irish on the Conservation 
Commission with someone that has already turned in their application.  There are a number of 
alternate seats available if anyone wants to apply. 
 
OLD BUSINESS 
 

New Community Center Update   
 
Scott Hausler, Parks and Recreation Director showed a PowerPoint presentation update. 
 

• Project Update 
o Mechanical and electrical contractors still on site 
o Interior painting continues 
o SSG swimming pool plastering complete and pools filled 
o Elevator inspection scheduled for Monday 
o HVAC Training on Tuesday 
o Membership sales continue 
o Soft openings and ribbon cutting event 

• Showed pictures of men’s bathroom, women’s locker room, main entry way, in process 
of floor finishing, grinding concrete, preparing pool for plaster, pool filled with water to 
cure the plaster, cardio and fitness space, gymnasium with basketball hoops, lower 
classroom space, community room space, reception area  

• Grand opening Celebrations Scheduled 
o Volunteers working on opening celebration activities 
o February 11th through February 15th Soft Opening events being scheduled 
o February 16th Grand Opening & ribbon cutting ceremony 

• Get your NEW Community Center Membership Pass Today 
 
Mr. Bergeron asked why there is no 2-person rate.  Mr. Hausler said there are individual and 
family (2-4 people) packages.  It is cheaper to pay for the family membership than for 2 
individuals unless they are over 55 years old and then they would be eligible for the individual 
senior rate which would be cheaper than the family rate. 
 
Mayor Neilsen asked when to expect the next financial update.  Ms. Walter will put the 
information in next month’s packet. 
 
Mr. Austin asked about the interest in membership.  Mr. Hausler said they have sold over 100 
with no marketing campaign.  They are doing offsite presentations when invited. 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 3 
 

 
Mr. Austin asked what happens if more people show up than the occupancy load allows.  Mr. 
Hausler said he would have to monitor that; it would be a great problem to have. 
 
Mr. Formidoni asked about pool hours designated for lap swim, family swim, etc.  Mr. Hausler 
said there will be a schedule for that.   
 
Mr. Koloski asked about the increased fee for out-of-towners except for additional family 
members.  Mr. Hausler said that is accurate for additional family members. 
 
Mr. Irish asked if holders of the yearly membership will also have to pay additional money for 
programs.  Mr. Hausler said that with membership, some program fees are reduced by 50% (i.e. 
basketball and swim lessons).  Outdoor programs will have full fees.   
 
Mr. Koloski asked to have the membership numbers included in the department report.  Mr. 
Hausler said he would do that. 
 
Mayor Neilsen said revenues will not cover the bond, but the goal is to cover as much of the 
operational and staff fees as we can.  So, the bond is the only burden to the community. 
 
Mr. Irish would like discussion of the financial expectation as a future agenda item.  Mayor 
Neilsen would like to have that discussion in February.  
 
Mr. Bergeron read an e-mail from Jean and Frank Fahey in support of the community center and 
opposing any fee increases for at least one year. 
 
CITIZEN’S FORUM 
 
Mark Barriger, Ward 1, said the armory should be used for storage of Ladder 1 as it does not fit 
in the Fire Department building. 
 
Steve Raymond, Ward 1, said he is glad the Council and school board are working together; 
that’s the only way Claremont will move forward.     
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, said it was good to hear some members of the Council express interest in 
the New Community Center financials.  He said it is good to see cooperation between the 
Council and school board except the school board scheduled a meeting to discuss the bond on the 
same night as the Council meeting (tonight). 
 
Mike Tetu, Ward 1, disagreed with having a school board member on the Council and vice versa; 
to do that would take a Charter amendment.  He talked about citizens not having a voice in the 
community garden location.  He asked the City Manager to not do that anymore.  He accepts that 
they are there.  He talked about the mission statement and land use regulations; he would like to 
know when they were received, who authored them, and have they been reviewed by the City 
Solicitor.  He asked if waivers were signed last year and why they were not included in the 91-A 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 4 
 

request.  He asked if they will be signed by the gardeners this year.  He asked for permission to 
continue to see that the field is mowed and to replace the orange fence with a split rail fence.  He 
asked to be placed on the next agenda.  Mayor Neilsen said he will discuss the request. 
 
Marie Allen, Ward 1, asked for clarification of the fees; they seem low compared to White River 
Junction.  Mr. Hausler explained that we hired Ballard & King to help develop operational pro 
forma.  We looked at their recommendations and fees from all across the country.  Net cost 
recovery is 23% ($400,000 to $500,000) now.  With the pro forma, we kept that net cost in mind.  
Mr. Hausler said this is a public facility; we looked at demographics and it is important that we 
are affordable so everyone can participate. 
 
NEW BUSINESS 
 

Zoning Ordinance Update – Cecil Group  
 
Nancy Merrill, Planning and Development Director said the City Center Project Steering 
Committee started working on this in March 2011.  They are finishing and then it will move to 
the Planning Board and the Council for public hearings and input. 
 
Eunice Kim, Cecil Group Planner, showed a PowerPoint presentation, “Claremont City Center 
Project.” 
 

• Agenda 
o Planning process 
o Goals 
o Existing Zoning Map 
o Proposed Zoning Map 

 MU District 
 PR District 

o Design Guidelines 
o Discussion 

• Planning Process 
o Final phase of 2-year study 
o Zoning workshop in July 

 Incorporating a lot of information into the recommendations  
o Planning & Zoning joint meeting held 
o Ongoing meetings with Steering Committee & City Staff 

 Hand-off recommendations to Planning Board on January 28th 
• Goals 

o #1  Engage community involvement in the process 
o #2  Maintain & improve existing housing stock 
o #3  Improve the Zoning ordinance to increase opportunities for economic 

development in the form of restoration, rehabilitation & infill development 
o #4  Engage and promote private investment in the City Center through initiating 

changes to land use policy and other regulatory barriers 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 5 
 

• Existing Zoning Map 
o 11 zoning districts – goal is to simplify permitting process 

• Proposed Zoning Map 
o Proposed zoning 

 6 zoning districts 
 Make all but I-2 district unique to the City Center 
 New districts include:  CR-1, CR-2, MU and CB-2 

o Major changes 
 Consolidate the MUM & B-1 districts will be single mixed use district, 

MU 
• Proposed Zoning Map – MU District 

o Allow broader range of uses in proposed MU District 
 Continue to allow uses currently permitted in either B-1 or MUM 
 Add uses such as: 

• Mixed-use buildings 
• Bed and breakfast 
• Personal service businesses 
• Medical offices 
• Home occupations 
• Light manufacturing 

• Proposed Zoning Map 
o Major changes 

 Create 3 PR corridors leading to downtown (rezone portions of B-1.5 and 
B-2) 

• Proposed Zoning Map – PR District 
o Allow additional commercial and mixed uses in PR 

 Continue to allow most uses currently permitted in PR 
 Add some uses currently allowed in B-1.5 such as: 

• Medical offices 
• Personal services 
• Retail stores (small) 
• Restaurants 

 Add other uses such as: 
• Mixed-use buildings 
• Bed and breakfast 

• Design Guidelines 
o Provide design guidelines that can be used as a resource (advisory tool) 

 Show examples of good building and site design 
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, said he attended every City Center Project meeting.  He asked about a 
property being grandfathered versus coming under the new guidelines, and how much 
improvements can be done before it has to go to the Zoning Board.   
 
Mayor Neilsen assumed that information would be available at the Planning office.   



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 6 
 

 
Ms. Kim said part of the process was to create a table of uses; proposed changes to the site plan 
regulations to make them two tier (technical review and/or Planning Board); and they talked 
about creating a chart of the current districts and the future districts. 
 
Mr. Bergeron said they are trying to make it so when someone applies for a permit, it is inviting 
and not negative.  He thanked City Staff for all their work. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked when this will come up for adoption.  Ms. Merrill said there will be two 
public hearings, 30 days apart. So, we are looking at March and April for the Council and 
February for the Planning Board review.  On February 9th, they will wrap-up the Steering 
Committee on the Zoning ordinance; it will be a public hearing to be held at the CSB 
Community Center, hopefully.  Mr. Koloski asked about a marketing campaign, “Were Open for 
Business.”  Ms. Merrill said she likes that idea.   
 
Ms. Messier asked if the information is on the website.  Ms. Merrill said they will finish the edits 
from the Steering Committee and then it will be posted.  Ms. Taylor said she has not completed 
legal review, yet.  Ms. Merrill said it will be posted in draft form pending legal review.  Mr. 
Bergeron said the Committee gave Ms. Taylor lots to review and she will do it as soon as she 
can.   
 

Communications Between City Council and the School Committee  
 
Mayor Neilsen said this was brought up because of the discussion to have a Councilor on the 
School board and a School Board member on the Council.   
 
Mr. Irish said he pushed for this.  His goal was to invite each other to each other’s meetings.  On 
the agenda, he asked to change the Stevens High School Council Update to School Board 
Update.  
 
Mr. Bergeron agreed with Mr. Irish.  He noted the School Board knows when the Council meets, 
but they continue to schedule meetings on the second Wednesday of the month and that is some 
of the issues that need to be worked on.   
 
Ms. Messier said she used to enjoy getting the School Board meeting minutes.  She doubted 
Council minutes were sent to them.  Reading the minutes is a good way to keep up with the 
boards. 
 
Mr. Irish said citizens should take an active role with these two boards and these boards should 
talk to each other.   
 
Mr. Koloski said little to nothing has been done since the meeting.  He talked about sending 
Council minutes to them. 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 7 
 

Mayor Neilsen talked about the schools having a plan for all the schools before making a 
decision about the bond vote.  He said it is difficult to support something when he’s not been a 
part of the process. 
 
Mr. Koloski requested a letter be sent from the Council to the School Board requesting School 
Board meetings not be scheduled on Council nights.  He asked if the City Manager can have the 
Council minutes sent to the School Board.  
 
Mr. Santagate said yes, we can do that. 
 
Steve Raymond, Ward 1, thanked Council for the discussion.  He believed the boards were 
getting together and now he feels that the public was being misled.   
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, suggested the School Board could have a similar discussion because the 
School Board has more to lose (i.e. public votes on the school budget and bond votes).  He said 
by law draft minutes have to be available within five business days and if the draft can be sent, 
can it also be placed on the website.  He thinks it would be good for the Council to read the draft 
minutes of all the boards.   
 
Ms. Messier said the Council may not be communicating directly with the School Board, but the 
City Manager and Superintendent do communicate regularly and the athletic department 
communicates regularly with Scott Hausler, Parks and Recreation.  She encouraged everyone to 
read the School Board minutes and to watch their meeting. 
 
Mr. Koloski said it is not an issue of the boards being against each other.  We just need to get 
back on track. 
 

Ordinance 530 Amend the Merit Plan Attachments B – First Reading  
 
The purpose of this proposed change is to amend the listing of job classifications in the Code and 
Merit Plan to include staffing of the CSB Community Center and to move the positions of 
Planning & Development Project Manager and Information Systems II/Network Administrator 
from Grade 9 to Grade 10 as a result of the re-pointing process which showed increased job 
duties for both positions. 
 
Enactment of this Ordinance will allow for appropriate staffing of the CSB Community Center 
and will ensure compliance with the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) regarding exempt and 
non-exempt status of the City’s non-union employees.  This action does not add any additional 
expenses to the City Budget, as adopted. 
 
Ms. Walter said we are only amending Attachment B and not Attachment C (as was noticed) 
which is for salaries.   
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 8 
 

Mr. Koloski asked which employees are being added.  Ms. Walter said there is only one full-time 
and the rest are part-time.  The number of part-time people could vary depending upon the 
number of hours they work. 
 
Mr. Irish said he is happy to see the System II/Network Administrator go up a grade.  Ms. Walter 
said this will not mean extra money; it is being graded properly for the work. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Raymond and seconded by Mr. Austin to adopt Ordinance 530 
Amend the Merit Plan Attachments B on first reading. 
 
Mr. Raymond read the explanation of proposed action into the record. 
 
Ms. Walter said this information is on the website. 
 
Roll call vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 

2013 City Fee Schedule – Public Hearing 
 
Mayor Neilsen noted most of the fee changes were New Community Center fees. 
 
Mr. Irish asked if there is a way to consolidate all planning fees for each project.  Ms. Merrill 
said they are merging the sign permits.  They are continuing to look at the application process.  
They don’t always know what is required at the beginning of the project. 
 
Ms. Messier asked about the site plan amendment.  Ms. Merrill said it is not new; the lower fee 
reflects less time to review.  In the spring, they may need to add internal technical review.  Ms. 
Messier asked about Notarizing Documents (Non-City Business).  Ms. Taylor said this was in 
existence, but not noticed in each department that has a notary, so it made sense to include it on 
the All Departments page. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked about Parks & Recreation Vendor Permits going from $75 to $100.  Mr. 
Hausler said it is specifically for vendor permits in the parks (i.e. 4th of July).  The increase is 
due to the clean up after July 4th.  That is mainly the only time the vendor permit is used.  It 
doesn’t affect the Farmers Market.     
 
Mayor Neilsen asked about Food Vendor Permit at Events.  Mr. Hausler said it is primarily for 
the 4th of July.  It used to be that one vendor would work the event and then make a donation 
back to the Parks, now more vendors are interested.  The $250 fee helps offset some of the July 
4th event expenses.   
 
Mr. Irish asked about the fee for the Function Room and said that we don’t want to under cut 
other facilities. Mr. Hausler talked about the differences in the kitchen facilities including size.  
 
Mayor Neilsen opened the public hearing.  
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 9 
 

Bernie Folta, Ward 3, asked if an electronic copy of the Voter Checklist should be cheaper than 
paper.  He also asked why a copy of the entire assessing file (i.e. property record cards) isn’t $10. 
 
Mr. Koloski noted that in Parks & Recreation there was no additional child fee of $75.  Mr. 
Hausler said to just add $75 per family member above 4. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Formidoni and seconded by Mr. Raymond to adopt the 2013 
City Fee Schedule as presented with the addition on the Parks and Recreation Department 
page to add each additional family member over 4 people will add $75. 
 
Roll call vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 
COUNCIL PHOTO  
 
Council took a break and at 8:30 p.m., Mr. Irish did not return immediately from break. 
 

Discussion of Welfare Guidelines  
 
Suzanne Carr, Welfare Director, said the current Welfare Guidelines were in the packet.  She 
will come back in March for an update of the guidelines.  LGC (Local Government Center) does 
model guidelines to make sure everyone is in compliance with the law and that is what she uses. 
 
Mr. Austin asked about the Mission Statement… “while working within the constraints of the 
City budget.”  Ms. Carr said that if someone is eligible, we are obligated to help them. 
 
Mr. Formidoni asked if we give assistance in cash or by check.  Ms. Carr said we either give a 
check or voucher or food from the pantry.  Ms. Walter said we do not give out cash or EBT 
(Electronic Benefits Transfer) cards. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked for a list of the paid landlords for a year and whether or not they are keeping 
up their properties.  Ms. Carr said if the property is not up to Code, we can withhold payments 
until it is brought up to Code.   
 
At 8:34 p.m. Mr. Irish returned to Council Chambers. 
 
Mayor Neilsen asked if Councilors are entitled to a list of landlords that have received rental 
vouchers.  Ms. Taylor said she will have to research that. 
 
Mr. Koloski talked about previously receiving a list of City checks that have been paid out which 
would have that information.  Ms. Taylor said she will have to research it. 
 
Mr. Raymond asked about workfare hours criteria.  Ms. Carr explained who can be required to 
participate in workfare and who cannot. 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 10 
 

Mr. Bergeron asked for clarification for how long benefits can be taken away.  Ms. Carr and Ms. 
Taylor referred to RSA 165 and discussed reinstatement on compliance.  Ms. Taylor said people 
need to talk to the legislature to get the law changed. 
 
Mayor Neilsen talked about one of the conditions for receiving assistance which is applying for 
jobs.  Ms. Carr said that is required if they do not have any limitations preventing them from 
doing it. 
 
Mr. Bergeron wanted to know what other communities are doing with welfare.  He also wanted 
to know how many social service agencies and how many shelters are in the City.  He thinks we 
have more than our share.  Ms. Carr said for shelters, there is one domestic violence shelter and 
there is the homeless shelter run by Southwestern Community Services.  They have the single 
male shelter, the family shelter and transitional housing.  She believes there are 30 beds. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked for clarification on security deposits.  Ms. Carr explained that we typically get 
25% of the security deposits returned when the tenant moves out.  Mr. Koloski thought this 
should be looked at. 
 
Mr. Formidoni said no matter where you rent, you run the risk of a landlord trying to keep the 
deposit.  He talked about having to step in to help his daughter when a landlord tried to keep her 
deposit.   
 
Ms. Carr said she asks for a list of damages from landlords if they keep the money.  Mr. Koloski 
suggested that could be a racket because no one fights to get the money back.  That’s why he 
wants to know which landlords are getting the money. 
 
Mr. Bergeron agreed with Mr. Formidoni.  It is easy for landlords to do because there is no 
ability to follow up. 
 
Mr. Irish agreed with Mr. Koloski and would like to see the data.  He asked about “Nonresident” 
and “return to residence.”  Ms. Carr explained that the law as written is based on their intent to 
take up residence here.  She said not everyone that comes in the door is assisted.  They have to 
do certain things and provide specific information.   
 
Ms. Walter asked if families can be asked to help.  Ms. Carr said yes, but they are not always in a 
position to do that.  
 
Mr. Irish asked about welfare being generational in Claremont.  Ms. Carr said she has been in 
welfare for 23 years and it happens, but not as much as people think.   
 
Mr. Raymond asked how long someone can stay on the program.  Ms. Carr said as long as they 
stay compliant; the average is three months.  We are the safety net. 
 
Mr. Austin asked about verifying that an applicant has applied for jobs as required.  Ms. Carr 
said she can call to verify.  We have more under-employed than unemployed. 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 11 
 

 
Mr. Raymond thanked Ms. Carr for what she is doing. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked to get the total number of non-returned security deposits for a year; that 
amount might be the same as what it would cost to pay for an assistant to track this down.  Mr. 
Koloski asked if the Planning office provides a list of housing that may have issues.  Ms. Carr 
said the application has a survey for issues and then Welfare gives that information to the 
Housing Inspector.  Mr. Koloski asked where the guidelines come from.  Ms. Carr said they 
come from LGC and they are tweaked for our community.  Ms. Taylor said the current 
guidelines are from 2006.  The law requires Council approval of the guidelines. 
 
Mr. Santagate said we will come back in March with revisions to the guidelines, how many 
social service agencies there are in the City, number of beds in the shelters, what other 
communities are doing, annual expenditures, number of clients and what is paid for direct 
assistance. 
 
Mr. Koloski said security deposit cost recovery is important to him.   
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, said Upper Valley Lake Sunapee Regional Planning Commission 
(UVLSRPC) has a map of the 27 communities and the median household income.  Claremont’s 
is among the lowest.  The message is Claremont is a poor community and maybe birds of a 
feather flock together. 
 
Ms. Carr said she did a comparison from the US Census site and Claremont is 15.4% below 
poverty level, Lebanon is 9.5%, and the statewide average is 8%. 
 

Tax Deeding Update  
 
At 9:07 p.m. Mr. Irish left Council chambers. 
 
Ms. Walter said this is the first time we have done tax deeding since she’s been here.  Total owed 
is $410,000 by 23 residential properties.   
 
Mr. Formidoni asked if any are being inhabited.  Ms. Walter said yes. 
 
Mayor Neilsen asked about adjustment to City ledgers. Ms. Walter said we would have to write 
off the $410,000.  Mayor Neilsen said disposal of some of these properties will be in excess of 
the amount owed. 
 
Mr. Bergeron said almost a half a million dollars is owed and that falls back on others.   
 
At 9:13 p.m. Mr. Irish returned to Council chambers.  
 
Ms. Walter said we may not want some of these properties because of liability issues, etc.  If we 
take the properties, sell them and realize a profit, we have to give the profit to the landowner.   



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 12 
 

 
Mayor Neilsen asked if the City doesn’t take the properties, can we stop the accumulation of 
penalties. Ms. Walter said no, if a landlord lets it deteriorate, then they could just walk away. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked about fees associated with the next steps.  Ms. Walter said we can apply the 
fees to any sale of the property.  She talked about properties in the Historic District and that they 
have particular issues. 
 
Mr. Bergeron said if the City does not take action, we will have more properties popping up all 
over town.  Mayor Neilsen said the only solution a few years ago was the City took out bonds to 
demolish 600 units. 
 
Ms. Walter noted that people can make payments to the City instead of trying to do it all at once.  
We are not in the business of being a rental agency.  All affected property owners will get letters 
of notification when the properties will be tax deeded and then she will come back to Council 
with the list of properties that we do not recommend we tax deed. 
 
Mr. Bergeron asked about giving the owner any money that is left over.  Ms. Walter said that 
applies if we sell the property within three years of when it is tax deed was recorded. 
 
Mr. Austin asked about other communities.  Ms. Walter said Berlin condemned a lot of 
properties before they took them; they condemned the buildings, had them taken down and then 
took the properties.  Other communities tax deed all the properties unless there is a liability/risk 
to the community for taking it. 
 
Mayor Neilsen said the only advantage to tax deeding is to set the standard so people keep 
paying their taxes. 
 
Ms. Taylor said the statute assumes that the tax collector can move forward with the tax deed 
process.  Council would have to vote affirmatively not to take specific properties for liabilities, 
etc., but does not have to approve those that are taken. 
 
Mr. Formidoni asked about ramifications for property owners who abandon their property; can it 
be placed on the credit report.  Mayor Neilsen said when it is tax deeded, it shows up on the 
credit report. 
 
Mr. Bergeron said this could be a great deal for some property owners.  If the property has value, 
they can stop paying taxes, the City takes it, sells it and then gives the after-taxes money to the 
property owner.  Ms. Walter explained that if the property is valuable, the City can hold it for 
three years and then any profits would stay with the City. 
 
Mr. Koloski noted two of the properties owe more in taxes than the property is worth.  The rest 
owe 25% or less of the assessed value.  Ms. Walter said the point is if they go back on the tax 
roll, someone else will pay the taxes. 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 13 
 

Ms. Walter noted that 36 Sugar River Drive had a fire since it was assessed. 
 
Mr. Bergeron said even if it costs some money, we may have to take these properties so we can 
get them back on the tax roll and they don’t just sit empty and deteriorate.  Ms. Walter talked 
about other communities developing nuisance ordinances.  Mr. Bergeron had also asked about 
penalizing landlords of properties that have frequent police calls. 
 
Ms. Walter said she will make a list of properties that the City does not want to take. 
 

Motion to Authorize Application for Support of Homeland Security Grant for Dispatch 
Center Improvements  

 
Police Chief Alex Scott said part of the grant application process is to ask for Council’s 
permission to apply for this grant.  The application is due February 1st.  We are seeking $50,000 
to allow upgrades in the dispatch center.  It was originally constructed in the 1970s.  There have 
been no major upgrades since.  He is not overly optimistic about receiving this.  He last applied 
for a radio repeater grant for the hospital and it was denied.  This will be for furniture, 
equipment, radios and computer upgrades. 
 
A motion was made by Mr. Koloski and seconded by Mr. Bergeron that the Claremont 
City Council hereby authorizes the City Manager, or his designees, to undertake all actions 
and to execute all documents as may be required to apply for a New Hampshire 
Department of Safety, Division of Homeland Security and Emergency Management Grant 
for the purchase and installation of equipment for the Claremont Police Department 
Communications Center, including but not limited to radios, consoles, monitors, computers 
and furniture. 
 
Mr. Bergeron asked if, when there is a major renovation (i.e. the hospital), can they be required 
to address such things as radio communications.  Mr. Koloski said he had asked about that for 
“big box” stores.  It is something to look at now before something bad happens.  Mr. Bergeron 
suggested approaching builders when they are planning the facility.  Mayor Neilsen suggested 
this go through the Planning Department. 
 
Mr. Santagate said there was a struggle over this during the remodel at the Valley Regional 
Hospital.  Mr. Bergeron said something needs to be done. 
 
Voice vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 

Motion to Approve Tax Bill Insert “News Notes” Regarding Quarterly Billing 
 
Ms. Walter said she has been working on quarterly billing.  Council has to approve any inserts in 
with the property tax bills.  She would like to see a newsletter put out occasionally and have a 
positive message.  She asked to put the “News Notes” in with the quarterly tax bill. 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 14 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Raymond and seconded by Mr. Formidoni that the Claremont 
City Council, pursuant to RSA 76:11, hereby authorizes insertion of "Claremont News 
Notes," regarding information about the quarterly tax billing process and other 
community news, in the next tax bill mailings. 
 
Mr. Bergeron asked about having to come back to do this.  Ms. Walter said it has to be done for 
each tax billing. 
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, was pleased about opening up this communication.   
 
Mr. Koloski asked about sending inserts in the water and sewer bills.  Ms. Walter said they don’t 
have the same restrictions, so notices have gone out with backflow preventer information.  The 
property owners that would get a water and sewer bill will also get a tax bill, so there is no need 
to resend this information. 
 
Voice vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 
CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 
Mr. Santagate suggested talking to the State Representatives about filing legislation to waive 
back taxes in qualified cases in order to get properties back on the tax rolls.  The work of the 
City Center Committee will bring forth big zoning changes which will help with development 
along the water and sewer lines.  This was a great open public process.  He looks forward to 
adoption of the new zoning ordinances.  Governor Hassan came to Claremont and a lot of the 
items that local citizens talked to her about were in her inaugural address.  He has been serving 
on a committee at Stevens High School working on a definition of the mission statement which 
is important to NEASC (New England Association of Schools and Colleges).  That process has 
been finished by the committee and will now go to the administration.  Dan Langille, our City 
Assessor, is going to Keene to be their Assessor.  We are taking steps to see how to handle the 
Assessing office going forward.  We will try to get the comparables for welfare from other 
communities. 
 
FUTURE AGENDA ITEMS AND DIRECTIVES 
 
Mayor Neilsen asked for a special meeting in February to discuss goals for 2013 with the City 
Manager the goals for 2013.  He asked each Councilor to come with 1 or 2 ideas to make a list of 
7-10 things for the City Manager to focus on throughout the year.  The fourth Wednesday is 
February 27th.  Council agreed.  Mr. Raymond will not be able to make that meeting, but he will 
send in his goals.  Mayor Neilsen asked to have to goals sent to himself or Mr. Santagate. 
 
Mr. Irish said he wasn’t notified that the Governor was in town.  He asked that all Councilors be 
notified in the future when she is expected to be in the City.  Mayor Neilsen said that invitations 
were sent from Senator Shaheen’s office and the City had no information on who was invited.  
He didn’t perceive that to be open to the public, only to those that were invited. 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 15 
 

Ms. Messier asked about putting Mr. Tetu on the agenda about trimming the Community Garden 
property and installing a split rail fence.  Mayor Neilsen asked Mr. Santagate to put it on the 
agenda.  Mr. Irish disagreed; Mr. Tetu should go directly to Mr. Santagate or City Staff for this.  
Ms. Taylor said the fence and signs were placed upon the recommendation of Primex.  Mayor 
Neilsen had no preference for how it gets resolved.  Ms. Messier agreed with Mr. Irish.  Mayor 
Neilsen will notify Mr. Tetu to meet with Mr. Santagate. 
 
Mr. Irish asked for an agenda item for New Community Center covering expectations of its 
operating budget.  Under Mayors Notes put School Board Update.  Mayor Neilsen agreed.  He 
asked for a website update.  Ms. Walter said we are hoping the new website will be done by the 
time the tax bill goes out. 
 
Mr. Koloski asked to get our available properties listed on the website (i.e. Sawtooth).  He would 
like an update of when we can list the properties.  Mayor Neilsen said it would be nice to have 
updated photos of the properties on the new website. 
 
Mr. Raymond he would like a sign saying “Open for Business” on those ads. 
 
Mayor Neilsen thanked Mr. Bergeron and all others for their work done on the City Center 
Steering Committee.  Mr. Bergeron suggested that certain things should be updated on a more 
regular basis.  Mayor Neilsen agreed.  Mr. Santagate said some things are always being updated 
(i.e. 9-1-1 and property assessments).  Mr. Bergeron said he was referring to policies and things 
like zoning. 
 
COMMITTEE REPORTS 
 
 Claremont 250th Anniversary Committee 
 
None 
 
 Claremont City Center Project – Steering Committee Report 
 
None 
 
CONSULTATION WITH LEGAL COUNSEL 
 
None 
 
Bernie Folta, Ward 3, suggested the City Charter needs to be updated.  Once it is started, it has a 
tight timeline, so he suggested having informal discussions beforehand about what changes 
might need to be made. 
 
 
 
 



Council Meeting 
January 9, 2013 

Page 16 
 

ADJOURNMENT 
 
At 10:08 p.m., a motion was made by Ms. Messier and seconded by Mr. Austin to adjourn. 
 
Voice vote:  motion carried 8-0. 
 
Respectfully Submitted, 
 
 
 
Dorée M. Russell 
Clerk to the Council 


